MOUNTAIN-PLAINS CONSORTIUM

MPC 24-533 | B. Kuang and J. Chen

MOBILE PHONE-BASED ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE DEVELOPMENT FOR MAINTENANCE ASSET MANAGEMENT





A University Transportation Center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Transportation serving the Mountain-Plains Region. Consortium members:

Colorado State University North Dakota State University South Dakota State University University of Colorado Denver University of Denver University of Utah Utah State University University of Wyoming

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession	lo. 3.	Recipient's Catalog No.	
MPC-668				
4. Title and Subtitle	•	5.	Report Date	
Mobile Phone-Based Artificial Intel	ligence Development for I	<i>l</i> aintenance	June 2024	
Asset Management	.g	6.	Performing Organizatio	n Code
7. Author(s)		8.1	Performing Organization	n Report No.
Biao Kuang			MPC 24-53	3
Jianli Chen, Ph.D.			WI 0 24-00	0
9. Performing Organization Name and Add	Iress	10.	Work Unit No. (TRAIS))
Department of Civil and Environmer	ntal Engineering	11.	Contract or Grant No.	
110 Central Campus Drive, Room 2	000			
Salt Lake City, UT 84112				
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addres	S	13.	Type of Report and Pe	riod Covered
Mountain-Plains Consortium			Final Repor	rt
North Dakota State University		14.	Sponsoring Agency Co	ode
FO BOX 0030, Faigo, ND 30100				
15. Supplementary Notes				
Supported by a grant from the US	DOT, University Transpor	tation Centers Progra	n	
16 Abstract				
Transportation asset managem	ent requires timely info	rmation collection to	inform relevant ma	aintenance
specialized equipment e.g. lig	clion methods often ne	cessitate manual op n (LiDAR), which ca	eration of the use	oi A and
costly to implement. With advar	ncements in computing	techniques artificia	l intelligence (AI) h	as
emerged as a powerful tool for	automatically detecting	objects in images a	nd videos. Therefo	ore, this
project aims to develop an impl	ementable Al package	that streamlines the	inspection of trans	sportation
assets through automated proc	esses. Specifically, a s	martphone was mou	inted on the vehicle	e's front
windshield to record videos of t	ransportation assets or	both highways and	local roads in Utal	h. These
videos were then converted and	d processed into labele	d images, which sei	ved as training and	d test
datasets for the AI algorithms. I	Based on a deep learni	ng framework, i.e., `	ou Only Look Onc	ce (YOLO),
assets which include navemen	t marking issues traffic	signs litter and tra	and identity transpo	Irails and
concrete barriers. The develope	ed Al models demonstr	ate dood performan	ce in identifving tar	aeted
objects, achieving over 85% ac	curacy. The AI package	e developed in this	roject is expected	to enable
timely and efficient information	collection for transporta	tion assets, thereby	improving road sa	afety.
17. Key Word		18. Distribution Stateme	ent	
artificial intelligence. asset manageme	ent, computer vision.			
data collection, global positioning system, highway		Public o	istribution	
maintenance, mobile applications, smartphones, state				
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassifie	ed	47	n/a
			•	

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

Mobile Phone-Based Artificial Intelligence Development for Maintenance Asset Management

Biao Kuang

Graduate Student

Jianli Chen

Ph.D., Assistant Professor

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

The University of Utah

July 2024

Acknowledgments

This project is funded by the Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT) and Mountain-Plains Consortium (MPC). The opinions and findings of the authors do not necessarily reflect the views and opinions of UDOT and MPC.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

NDSU does not discriminate in its programs and activities on the basis of age, color, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, participation in lawful off-campus activity, physical or mental disability, pregnancy, public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, spousal relationship to current employee, or veteran status, as applicable. Direct inquiries to Vice Provost, Title IX/ADA Coordinator, Old Main 100, (701) 231-7708, ndsu.eoaa@ndsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

Transportation asset management requires timely information collection to inform relevant maintenance practices. Traditional data collection methods often necessitate manual operation or the use of specialized equipment, e.g., light detection and ranging (LiDAR), which can be labor-intensive and costly to implement. With advancements in computing techniques, artificial intelligence (AI) has emerged as a powerful tool for automatically detecting objects in images and videos. Therefore, this project aims to develop an implementable AI package that streamlines the inspection of transportation assets through automated processes. Specifically, a smartphone was mounted on the vehicle's front windshield to record videos of transportation assets on both highways and local roads in Utah. These videos were then converted and processed into labeled images, which served as training and test datasets for the AI algorithms. Based on a deep learning framework, i.e., You Only Look Once (YOLO), we developed accurate and efficient AI algorithms to automatically detect and identify transportation assets, which include pavement marking issues, traffic signs, litter and trash, and steel guardrails and concrete barriers. The developed AI models demonstrate good performance in identifying targeted objects, achieving over 85% accuracy. The AI package developed in this project is expected to enable timely and efficient information collection for transportation assets, thereby improving road safety.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Research Objectives and Scopes	2
	1.3	Report Outline	3
2	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	4
	2.1	Data Collection of Transportation Assets	4
		2.1.1 Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR)	4
		2.1.2 Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR)	5
		2.1.3 Infrared Thermography (IRT)	7
		2.1.4 Close-Range Photogrammetry (CRP)	8
		2.1.5 Brief Summary	9
	2.2	Transportation Asset Maintenance AI Models	9
		2.2.1 Artificial Intelligence Models	9
		2.2.2 Applications of AI Models in Transportation Assets Maintenance	10
		2.2.3 Brief Summary	11
	2.3	Commercial Practices of Transportation Assets Data Collection and Management	11
		2.3.1 Pillar	11
		2.3.2 Esri	12
		2.3.3 Deep Systems (Russia)	13
		2.3.4 TRIK	13
		2.3.5 Pavemetrics	13
		2.3.6 Brief Summary	14
3	ME	THODOLOGY	.15
	3.1	Data Collection and Processing	15
	3.2	Data Annotations	16
		3.2.1 Pavement Marking Annotations	16
		3.2.2 Litter & Trash Annotations	.16
		3.2.3 Traffic Sign Annotations	.17
		3.2.4 Guardrail and Barrier Annotations	.17
	3.3	You Only Look Once (YOLO)	.17
	3.4	Accuracy Metrics	18
4	RES	SULTS	.20
	4.1	Model Training Environment and Parameter Setting	20
	4.2	AI Model Development to Identify Pavement Marking Issues	20
		4.2.1 Model Training and Test Performance	20

		4.2.2 Examples of Pavement Marking Issues Detection	21
	4.3	AI Model Development to Identify Litter & Trash	23
		4.3.1 Model Training and Performance	23
		4.3.2 Examples of Litter & Trash Identification	23
	4.4	AI Model Development to Identify Traffic Signs	25
		4.4.1 Model Training and Performance	25
		4.4.2 Examples of Traffic Signs Detection	25
	4.5	AI Prototype Development to Identify Guardrails and Barrier	27
5	CON	NCLUSIONS	29
	5.1	Summary	29
	5.2	Findings	29
	5.3	Limitations and Future Work	30
RE	FERF	INCES	31

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Comparison of Different Sensing Techniques	9
Table 4.1	Training Environment Configuration	.20
Table 4.2	Training Parameter Settings	.20
Table 4.3	Training Results of Pavement Marking Issues	.21
Table 4.4	Training Results of Trash & Litter	.23
Table 4.5	Training Results of Traffic Signs	.25

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	The Principle of GPR	ł
Figure 2.2	GPR Mounted on A Survey Vehicle	;
Figure 2.3	The Principle of LiDAR	5
Figure 2.4	Mobile LiDAR System on a Moving Vehicle	5
Figure 2.5	IR Image of Pavement	7
Figure 2.6	Mobile Photogrammetry Setup and the View	3
Figure 2.7	An Example of Guardrail Scan and Automatic Extraction by Pillar	2
Figure 2.8	Interface of FDOT eMaintenance Web App	2
Figure 2.9	Web Dashboard Page of Deep Systems	;
Figure 3.1	Flowchart of Model Development and Improvement15	;
Figure 3.2	Setup of Video Collection	5
Figure 3.3	The Architecture of YOLOv5	3
Figure 4.1	Accuracy Metrics of Pavement Marking Issues During Training	L
Figure 4.2	Examples of Detection Results of Pavement Marking Issues	2
Figure 4.3	Accuracy Metrics of Litter & Trash Identification During Training	;
Figure 4.4	Examples of Detection Results of Trash & Litter	ł
Figure 4.5	Accuracy Metrics of Traffic Signs During Training	;
Figure 4.6	Examples of Detection Results of Traffic Signs	5
Figure 4.7	Accuracy Metrics of Guardrails and Barriers During Training	7
Figure 4.8	Examples of Detection Results of Guardrails	3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Timely information collection and assessment of transportation assets are essential for the daily maintenance practices of state departments of transportation (DOTs). Traditional transportation asset assessment methods often rely on labor-intensive manual data collection or employ costly devices, such as light detection and ranging (LiDAR), which are prohibitive in frequent data collection due to high operational costs. With advancements in computing techniques, artificial intelligence (AI), including computer vision and deep learning, has demonstrated capabilities in automatic and accurate object detection, comparable to human vision. This project aims to explore the applicability of AI in transportation-related applications by developing reliable and accurate AI algorithms for automatic object identification. These AI models will focus on identifying pavement marking issues, traffic signs, trash and litter on the roads, and steel guardrails and concrete barriers. By integrating AI into transportation asset management, we aim to improve current practices, making them more efficient and cost-effective.

This project began by reviewing the pros and cons of existing technologies for transportation asset data collection. Commonly used techniques include ground-penetrating radar, LiDAR, infrared thermography, and close-range photogrammetry. Among these, close-range photogrammetry is considered a reliable method for timely information collection without excessive cost. We also reviewed AI algorithms applied in transportation asset monitoring and inspection, including regional convolutional neural networks (RCNN), Faster RCNN, and You Only Look Once (YOLO). YOLO, a deep learning-based AI algorithm, excels in object detection with high accuracy and computational efficiency. While these AI algorithms have been widely used for pavement issue identification, there has been limited research on applying AI to detect pavement marking issues, trash and litter on roads, and steel guardrails and concrete barriers.

To address this, we mounted a smartphone on a vehicle's front windshield to collect videos of targeted transportation assets and issues on state highways and local roads in Utah. In total, approximately 31 hours of videos were collected, capturing pavement markings, traffic signs, steel guardrails, concrete barriers, and roadside litter and trash. These videos were processed into labeled images to train robust AI algorithms. Using these labeled images as training and test data, we developed three AI models for the automatic detection of pavement marking issues, traffic signs, and litter and trash. Specifically, the AI model for pavement marking issues can detect faded white and yellow pavement markings. The traffic sign model can identify regulatory signs, speed-related signs, warning signs, and guide signs. The litter and trash model can detect white litter, black litter, dirt, and leaves on the roadside. Additionally, we developed a prototype AI model to identify steel guardrails and concrete barriers. Iterative training and tuning ensured the robust performance of these algorithms. The results show that the developed AI models achieve good performance, with over 85% accuracy in transportation asset identification.

The mobile phone-based AI package developed in this project offers an accurate, efficient, and automated approach to collect and analyze transportation asset data. This enables more frequent inspection of transportation assets, ultimately improving road safety.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Transportation assets, such as pavement markings, traffic signs, and guardrails, are the backbone of our transportation systems, contributing to the overall safety and efficiency of our transportation network (Akofio-Sowah et al., 2014; FHWA, 2009). However, over time, these assets are subjected to various environmental factors, heavy usage, and natural wear and tear, which all lead to damage or deterioration (Sassani et al., 2021; S. Xu et al., 2021). For example, pavement markings and traffic signs may become faded or damaged, reducing their effectiveness in conveying important information to road users (Alzraiee et al., 2021; Kuang et al., 2024). Common issues with traffic signs include fading, damage, obstruction, and misplacement, which can lead to reduced visibility and misinterpretation by drivers (Campbell et al., 2019; Gudigar et al., 2016). Guardrails and barriers may experience corrosion or structural weaknesses, compromising their ability to protect vehicles and occupants in the event of a crash (Jin et al., 2024; Li et al., 2018). Also, objects such as plastic bottles, discarded packaging, or vehicle debris on the roadside can cause crashes by obstructing the road or creating hazards that lead to loss of control or tire damage (Chamberlin et al., 2021; Karimi and Faghri, 2021). Therefore, effective transportation asset management and maintenance is necessary to ensure their continued functionality and safety.

Transportation asset management and maintenance needs periodic inspection of transportation asset conditions, such as evaluating the structural integrity, functionality, and visibility (FHWA, 2009; Sinha et al., 2017). Traditional methods of assessing transportation asset conditions have relied heavily on manual efforts or the use of specialized sensing equipment, e.g., light detection and ranging (LiDAR) and retroreflectometers. (Pike et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2021). These approaches are labor-intensive, time-consuming, and costly to implement (Lin et al., 2022; Schnebele et al., 2015; Solla et al., 2014). Hence, there is an urgent need to develop a lightweight technique capable of assessing the conditions of transportation assets in a timely and accurate manner.

With the rapid development of artificial intelligence (AI) techniques, there is now an opportunity to revolutionize the transportation asset assessment process. AI techniques, particularly deep learning and computer vision, have enabled object detection and image classification in various fields, including the automated assessment of transportation assets (Du et al., 2020; Ghosh and Smadi, 2021). AI algorithms are able to extract valuable insights by analyzing large volumes of data, such as images (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2017; Majidifard et al., 2020). Computing-based image analysis and object detection are similar to visual inspection by human inspectors (Spencer et al., 2019). Specific to inspecting transportation asset conditions, based on AI algorithms, developed models can be trained to identify patterns, anomalies, or signs of transportation asset issues that may need duplicate efforts through traditional manual inspections (Kawano et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2017; Park et al., 2023). An example of this application is the identification of pavement distresses, such as cracks and potholes (Abdellatif et al., 2020; Koch et al., 2013).

The advantage of AI-based approaches lies in their ability to automate the assessment process, providing more efficient and accurate results (Gao et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2024; Wei et al., 2021). Also, the use of AI in asset assessment can lead to cost savings by reducing the reliance on manual labor or expensive equipment (Gómez et al., 2022; Kuang et al., 2022). Compared with traditional methods, which are vulnerable to missing emerging issues between inspections, AI models can continuously analyze data and detect anomalies and potential problems as they arise (Karballaeezadeh et al., 2020). This continuous monitoring ensures maintenance activities can be scheduled more responsively, addressing issues before they escalate. Furthermore, these developed lightweight AI models can be integrated into existing asset management systems, allowing for real-time or near-real-time monitoring of asset conditions. This

enables state departments of transportation (DOTs) to proactively identify maintenance needs, prioritize repairs, and allocate resources effectively.

Therefore, the objective of this project is to create precise and readily implementable AI models that streamline the inspection of transportation assets through automated processes. The proposed AI packages utilize a smartphone mounted on a vehicle's front windshield to capture videos of the road. Based on these self-collected videos, this project further develops an AI package capable of automatically assessing the conditions of pavement markings, identifying traffic signs, and detecting litter along the roadside. We also created a prototype model for recognizing concrete barriers and steel guardrails. This delivered AI package offers an affordable solution that enables more frequent and efficient data collection for transportation asset maintenance purposes. This approach revolutionizes traditional asset management practices by providing a cost-effective means of acquiring valuable information and assessing the conditions in a timely manner.

1.2 Research Objectives and Scopes

The main research objective of the project is advancing transportation asset management through the application of AI techniques. This study, based on self-collected images, aims to develop a usable AI package that is capable of automatically assessing the condition of pavement marking, identifying traffic signs and steel guardrails/concrete barriers, as well as detecting litter and trash on the roads. Also, the performance of each task is evaluated respectively to verify the capability of leveraging a mobile phone as a lightweight and easily implementable data collection method to facilitate the inspection of transportation assets.

To achieve these research objectives, four specific tasks are involved, illustrated as follows:

Task 1. Literature review: a comprehensive literature review is conducted to explore and examine existing technologies and practices related to transportation asset collection and inspection, including emerging AI technologies.

Task 2. Data collection: A mobile phone, mounted on a vehicle, is used to collect data by recording videos while driving on the highways and street roads of Utah. The capability of AI in transportation asset identification and condition assessment is pre-evaluated.

Task 3. AI package development: Based on self-collected images and utilizing AI algorithms, multiple AI models are developed to inspect and identify transportation assets, including assessing the condition of pavement markings, identifying the various traffic signs, and detecting common litter on the roads. The performance of each model is evaluated.

Task 4. AI package development (proof-of-concept): An AI prototype model is also developed to identify concrete barriers and steel guardrails.

By achieving these research tasks, the project endeavors to contribute to improving transportation asset management practices. The development of a usable AI package for automatic asset detection, combined with the evaluation of mobile phones as data collection tools, is able to facilitate more efficient, accurate, and accessible transportation asset inspection This advancement has the potential to enhance the operation and maintenance of transportation assets and ultimately improve the overall condition and safety of transportation infrastructure.

1.3 Report Outline

The report is structured into several sections. Section 2 reviews the pros and cons of current practices in transportation asset data collection and explores the existing applications of AI algorithms in transportation asset inspection. Section 3 introduces data collection, AI models, and accuracy metrics for evaluating the developed algorithms. Section 4 presents the results and performance of the AI models, covering the identification of pavement marking issues, traffic signs, and litter/trash, as well as a prototype model for steel guardrail and concrete barrier identification. Finally, Section 5 summarizes the key findings and provides recommendations for future work.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Data Collection of Transportation Assets

Various sensing techniques, such as ground penetrating radar (GPR), light detection and ranging (LiDAR), and infrared thermography (IRT), have been developed and utilized for the collection of transportation asset data, including pavement, pavement markings, and traffic signs.

2.1.1 Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR)

GPR, an electromagnetic-based geophysical method, utilizes radar pulses ranging from 200 mm to 3 m to image the subsurface. It employs either a ground-coupled antenna (60 cm to 3 m) or an air-coupled antenna (200–300 mm) (Schnebele et al., 2015). GPR is a non-destructive geophysical method used for subsurface imaging and mapping. It has proven to be an effective tool in various fields, such as civil engineering, geology, archaeology, and environmental studies (Iftimie et al., 2021; Tešić et al., 2021)

GPR works based on the principle of electromagnetic wave propagation and interaction with subsurface materials, as shown in Figure 2.1. It operates by transmitting short pulses of electromagnetic energy into the ground using a transmitter and antenna system (Tešić et al., 2021). The transmitted energy travels through the subsurface and interacts with different materials, such as soil, rocks, and buried objects. When the transmitted energy encounters a boundary between materials with different dielectric permittivity or encounters buried objects, a portion of the energy is reflected back to the surface. The reflected energy, also known as the return signal, carries valuable information about the subsurface features and objects. A receiving antenna is used to capture the variations in the return signal. The antenna records the amplitude (magnitude) and arrival time of the reflected signal (Tong et al., 2020). By analyzing these variations, it is possible to determine the depth, location, and characteristics of subsurface objects, such as buried utilities, voids, geological layers, and archaeological artifacts.



Figure 2.1 The principle of GPR (Khamzin et al., 2017)

GPR technology has demonstrated its utility in collecting and evaluating pavement conditions, making it an invaluable tool in pavement assessment based on the variation in dielectric permittivity within a pavement segment (Joshaghani and Shokrabadi, 2022; Khamzin et al., 2017). Different pavement conditions exhibit distinct dielectric permittivity values, allowing GPR to differentiate between poorquality and high-quality pavement (Khamzin et al., 2017; Vilbig, 2013). GPR can operate on moving survey vehicles, as depicted in Figure 2.2. This feature enhances its application in acquiring and evaluating pavement structures and materials. By utilizing GPR on moving vehicles, various pavement characteristics can be measured, including pavement layer thickness, void identification, and detection of pavement distress (Khamzin et al., 2017; Vilbig, 2013).



Figure 2.2 GPR Mounted on A Survey Vehicle (Khamzin et al., 2017)

Although GPR is a valuable technology, it has certain limitations in its application. One limitation is the requirement for operators to possess knowledge of both electromagnetic waves and pavement distress in order to interpret the results obtained from GPR surveys accurately (Tong et al., 2020). The interpretation of GPR data is usually complex and requires expertise to distinguish between various subsurface features and pavement conditions. Another limitation of GPR is its inability to provide precise horizontal information. While GPR can measure the depth and thickness of subsurface irregularities, it is not as accurate in determining the exact horizontal location of features (Schnebele et al., 2015). This means that while GPR can identify subsurface anomalies and variations, it may not provide precise spatial coordinates for mapping purposes. Additionally, GPR is primarily a subsurface detection method and is not suitable for collecting data on aboveground transportation assets such as traffic signs and barriers (Dai and Yan, 2014). Therefore, alternative methods or technologies should be employed to collect information on aboveground transportation assets.

2.1.2 Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR)

LiDAR is another widely used technology in the field of transportation. Figure 2.3 illustrates the principle of LiDAR, which involves the measurement of ranges by targeting objects with a laser and measuring the time it takes for the reflected light to return to the receiver (Kaartinen et al., 2022).



Figure 2.3 The Principle of LiDAR

LiDAR systems can be categorized based on the platforms on which the laser is mounted. Two common types are the terrestrial laser scanner (TLS) and mobile laser scanner (MLS) (Schnebele et al., 2015; Topo, 2020). The TLS is a ground-based remote sensing system typically mounted on static tripods. It scans objects in all directions by emitting laser pulses and capturing the reflected signals. Once a scan in one location is complete, the tripod can be moved to another position to capture data from different angles or cover new areas. TLS is often used for detailed scanning and data collection of specific objects or areas of interest. On the other hand, MLS enables the acquisition of 3D data using one or more laser scanners mounted on moving vehicles, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), or helicopters (Kaartinen et al., 2022). Figure 2.4 depicts an MLS mounted on a moving vehicle. MLS systems capture laser data while the platform is in motion, allowing for the efficient and rapid collection of data over larger areas. MLS is commonly utilized for applications such as topographic mapping, road inventory, and infrastructure monitoring.



Figure 2.4 Mobile LiDAR System on a Moving Vehicle (Olsen et al., 2018)

LiDAR technology offers several advantages in transportation applications. It can generate highly accurate and detailed 3D point cloud data of transportation assets and has several advantages. First, it has high accuracy and resolution in transportation asset data collection. Second, this technique is not sensitive to the ambient environment of data collection, e.g., humidity or temperature (De Blasiis et al., 2021). However, LiDAR has its own limitations, including a much higher cost than other technologies (Ragnoli et al., 2018; Schnebele et al., 2015). Also, the operation and analysis of LiDAR data require expert knowledge, which introduces additional barriers to technology application (Farhadmanesh et al., 2021).

2.1.3 Infrared Thermography (IRT)

IRT operates by measuring the amount of radiation emitted from an object in the infrared range $(9-14\mu m)$ using infrared (IR) cameras (Schnebele et al., 2015). The measured radiation is affected by the emissivity and temperature of targeted objects, as well as surrounding weather and atmospheric conditions. The measured amount of thermal infrared radiation can then be converted into temperature, which is usable to indicate any anomalies of transportation assets based on the known difference in thermal properties between normal and defective areas (Garrido et al., 2018).

Figure 2.5 provides examples of infrared images of pavement, demonstrating how thermal contrasts can highlight underlying issues. These images showcase the practical application of IRT in maintaining and improving transportation assets.

IRT works by detecting the infrared radiation emitted by objects within the 9–14µm wavelength range using specialized IR cameras (Schnebele et al., 2015). This radiation detection is influenced by several factors, including the emissivity and temperature of the objects, as well as other environmental and atmospheric conditions. By analyzing the captured infrared radiation, thermal cameras can convert these readings into temperature values. These temperature measurements are critical for identifying anomalies in transportation infrastructure. Defective areas often have distinct thermal properties compared with normal areas, allowing IRT to identify issues such as subsurface defects, moisture infiltration, and structural weaknesses. For instance, in roadway pavement assessments, variations in temperature can reveal cracks, voids, and areas of poor adhesion, which are otherwise invisible to the naked eye (Garrido et al., 2018).

Moreover, IRT is a non-contact and non-destructive testing method, making it particularly valuable for ongoing maintenance and monitoring of infrastructure without causing any damage, such as pots, cracks, and delamination in materials like asphalt, metal, and concrete (Garrido et al., 2018; Lu et al., 2017). It is effective under various conditions, although it is crucial to account for weather influences, such as wind, humidity, and ambient temperature, to ensure accurate readings. Figure 2.5 provides examples of infrared images of pavement, demonstrating how thermal contrasts can highlight underlying issues. These images showcase the practical application of IRT in maintaining and improving transportation assets.



Figure 2.5 IR image of Pavement¹

¹ https://www.flir.com/discover/rd-science/mobile-infrared-scanning--a-high-tech-accurate-alternative-to-traditional-bridge-inspection-methods/

Despite its advantages, IRT faces challenges with the typically low spatial resolution of thermal images for most infrastructure, which can impact the accuracy of inspection results. Also, unlike GPR, IRT is suitable for horizontal data collection and measurement but cannot measure vertical aspects such as the thickness and depth of subsurface layers (Schnebele et al., 2015). This limitation restricts its ability to provide a complete assessment of certain types of infrastructure. Another consideration is the cost associated with IRT. Accurate measurement often requires high-end professional IR cameras, which can be expensive (Garrido et al., 2018).

2.1.4 Close-Range Photogrammetry (CRP)

CRP is suitable for sensing physical objects within a distance of less than 330 feet (100 meters) from the camera (Jiang et al., 2008). This technique primarily involves measuring and analyzing two-dimensional photographs collected by cameras. CRP can also produce three-dimensional models reconstructed from 2D images taken from various angles. These 3D models are valuable for assessing the condition of objects (Farhadmanesh et al., 2021).

CRP has a wide range of applications, broader than many other sensing technologies. For instance, cameras mounted on vehicles (as illustrated in Figure 2.6) can detect issues with transportation assets such as pavement, guardrails, and road markings (Farhadmanesh et al., 2021; Liq et al., 2012). The image data collected through CRP can be enhanced with other techniques, such as deep learning and image processing, to expand its applications further. For example, traffic signs can be automatically detected using color, geometric edge, and corner analysis (Ruta et al., 2010).



Figure 2.6 Mobile Photogrammetry Setup and the View (Farhadmanesh et al., 2021)

CRP offers a cost-effective and straightforward method for data collection and analysis, utilizing mobile phones or cameras. This ease of use allows for frequent data updates without incurring significant costs (Ahmed et al., 2011; Hanson et al., 2014). Despite these advantages, CRP has several limitations. Its precision and accuracy may be lower compared with other sensing technologies (Ragnoli et al., 2018). Additionally, various factors such as vehicle speed, camera quality, and lighting conditions can impact the final resolution of the collected images (Farhadmanesh et al., 2021; Gargoum et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the ability to quickly gather and update data makes it a valuable tool in many contexts, particularly when combined with advanced image processing techniques to enhance the quality and utility of the collected data.

2.1.5 Brief Summary

Table 2.1 presents a comparison of these sensing techniques. Overall, GPR and IRT have limited application areas. Secondly, although LiDAR, GPR, and IRT offer relatively high accuracy, they require expensive professional instruments and expert knowledge for data collection and interpretation.

Technique	Accuracy	Data analysis knowledge	Application range	Cost
GPR	High	Complex	Limited	High
LiDAR	High	Complex	Wide	High
IRT	Medium	Complex	Limited	High
CRP	Relatively low	Medium	Wide	Low

Table 2.1 Compar	rison of Different	t Sensing Technique	S
------------------	--------------------	---------------------	---

In contrast, CRP stands out as a low-cost method for data collection that can be easily achieved using mobile phones or basic cameras. This makes CRP a highly accessible and practical option. Despite its lower precision and accuracy compared with some other technologies, CRP's affordability and ease of use allow for frequent data updates, making it a reliable approach for assessing the conditions of various types of transportation assets. Thus, CRP has demonstrated significant potential as an affordable and effective method for infrastructure monitoring.

2.2 Transportation Asset Maintenance Al Models

Artificial intelligence (AI) models, particularly those utilizing computer vision and deep learning, excel in automatic object detection and image classification. Currently, AI models have already been integrated into transportation asset monitoring and maintenance practices, significantly enhancing the efficiency and accuracy of these processes. By automating the detection of issues and analyzing large volumes of image data, AI models contribute to more effective and timely maintenance of transportation infrastructure.

2.2.1 Artificial Intelligence Models

Computer vision is an interdisciplinary field focused on understanding the physical world by extracting and analyzing valuable information from images or videos (Huang et al., 2021). Image analysis and object detection through computer vision resemble human visual inspection because the information captured by images or videos is analogous to that obtained by human observers (Spencer et al., 2019). Computer vision processes range from low-level to high-level tasks, including image acquisition, segmentation, feature extraction, object recognition, and structural analysis (Koch et al., 2015).

Deep learning, a subset of AI, has a remarkable capability to interpret images, sounds, and text by mimicking the human brain's interpretation mechanisms. Deep learning frameworks consist of multiple layers of neuron nodes, where a training dataset is used to determine the weights of the neural network, ultimately forming the AI model (Lu, 2019). Numerous deep learning frameworks are available, such as You Only Look Once (YOLO) (Redmon et al., 2016), convolutional neural networks (CNN), and region-based CNN (RCNN) (Krizhevsky et al., 2017). Unlike other deep learning methods that first propose regions of interest before the convolution operation, YOLO performs detection and classification simultaneously (Redmon et al., 2016). This approach enables YOLO to run faster than other algorithms (e.g., faster RCNN) while achieving higher mean average precision (Redmon et al., 2016). Consequently, YOLO is recognized for its high accuracy and speed in object detection among deep learning models.

In recent years, the high accuracy and speed of deep learning have driven significant advancements in various computer vision problems, including object detection and image segmentation (Voulodimos et al., 2018). Compared with traditional computer vision algorithms, deep learning offers several advantages. Traditional algorithms rely on specific programming paradigms to extract features, which often involves extensive trial and error to select the appropriate features (O'Mahony et al., 2020). In contrast, deep learning employs a training framework with a set of inputs and known outputs, reducing the tedious process of feature extraction and signal processing (O'Mahony et al., 2020). Moreover, deep learning often outperforms traditional computer vision methods, especially in big data analysis, such as video data processing and analysis (Huang et al., 2021).

2.2.2 Applications of AI Models in Transportation Assets Maintenance

AI algorithms have been increasingly applied to transportation asset maintenance, with pavement condition assessment being a prominent area of research. The primary deep learning models used in this field include CNN (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2017), faster RCNN (Majidifard et al., 2020), and YOLO (Mandal et al., 2020). Publicly available datasets related to pavement distress, collected from smartphones, cameras, and Google Street View images, have supported these advancements (Majidifard et al., 2020; Mandal et al., 2020). These AI models, combined with diverse data sources, enable accurate automatic identification of various types of pavement distresses, such as transverse cracks, longitudinal cracks, block cracks, potholes, and alligator cracks (Du et al., 2020; Ghosh and Smadi, 2021; Majidifard et al., 2020). Additionally, some studies have focused on specific pavement types, including asphalt pavement (Wang et al., 2017; Wen et al., 2022) and Portland cement concrete (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2017). Exceptional cases have also been explored, such as object detection in challenging photographic conditions like low illumination or shadows (Tepljakov et al., 2019).

Beyond pavement distress, there is significant research on automatic pavement marking condition assessment. Zhang & Ge (2012) employed traditional image processing techniques, such as camera calibration, Hough transformation, and feature recognition, to assess pavement markings. Xu et al. (2021) used image pre-processing, feature extraction, and segmentation to detect and evaluate pavement line markings. However, traditional image processing methods often struggle with robustness due to their reliance on precise feature extraction, which can be hindered by noise from complex real-world scenarios such as varying light conditions and shadows (Li & Zhao, 2019).

In the fields of deep learning applications for pavement markings, Kawano et al. (2017) used YOLO to detect faded pavement markings, although the accuracy was limited to less than 50% due to issues with annotation precision. Kang et al. (2020) developed a framework using YOLOv3 to assess pavement marking visibility, which also incorporated additional image processing techniques such as edge extraction, mask construction, and gray transformation. Vokhidov et al. (2016) applied CNN to detect damaged pavement markings, focusing specifically on arrow-based markings. Wei et al. (2021) combined Faster-RCNN with U-Net to evaluate the damage ratio of white pavement markings, though their method did not account for other types of pavement markings.

Another significant application of AI algorithms in transportation asset management is traffic sign identification. For example, Hoang et al. (2018) combined various computer vision techniques, such as image augmentation and region processing, with CNN to create an AI model for traffic sign recognition. Similarly, Tabernik & Skočaj (2020) developed an automatic traffic sign inventory management system using Mask R-CNN, which handled 200 categories of traffic signs. Campbell et al. (2019) used open-source images, like those from Google Street View, to build a training dataset and develop a deep learning model specifically for identifying "stop and give way" signs. Additionally, research has addressed the robustness of traffic sign detection in challenging conditions, such as snowy weather or low illumination (Chehri et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2018).

In contrast to the extensive research on pavement issues, fewer studies have focused on recognizing litter and trash on roads. Liu et al. (2018) utilized YOLOv2 to detect garbage on pavements, but their study considered only one type of garbage. Similarly, the AI model developed by Sayyad et al. (2020) was limited to large-sized garbage and did not classify different types of trash. Zhang et al. (2019) applied Faster R-CNN to identify and count different categories of litter, including inorganic, organic, trash, and tree leaves. However, their dataset was exclusively collected from street roads, which may restrict its effectiveness for litter detection on highways.

Research on detecting steel guardrails and concrete barriers is even more sparse. Hou et al. (2022) proposed an automatic guardrail detection model that uses 3D local feature extraction based on mobile LiDAR data. In terms of RGB images, Liu et al. (2020) developed a standard urban image database that includes eight categories of urban images, one of which is damaged traffic guardrails. Jin et al. (2021) combined feature extraction with Mask R-CNN to detect steel guardrails on highways but did not include concrete barriers in their model.

2.2.3 Brief Summary

Deep learning and computer vision have demonstrated exceptional performance in automatic object detection and image classification. These technologies have been widely applied across various fields, with transportation asset monitoring and inspection being prominent examples. Pavement condition assessment has been extensively researched, showcasing the robust capabilities of AI models in this area. Traffic sign identification is another well-studied application, highlighting the potential of AI for detecting and managing transportation infrastructure.

However, there is comparatively less research focused on other aspects of transportation asset management, such as identifying pavement marking issues, detecting steel guardrails and concrete barriers, and recognizing litter and trash on roads. Expanding research into these areas could further enhance the utility of AI in comprehensive transportation asset detection and maintenance.

2.3 Commercial Practices of Transportation Assets Data Collection and Management

Leveraging these data collection techniques and AI models, companies and organizations have developed commercial platforms to facilitate transportation asset management practices.

2.3.1 Pillar

Pillar² is an infrastructure asset management firm that has developed an AI-based system to manage transportation assets. This system includes data collection to form an inventory database, assessment of asset conditions, development of maintenance plans, and execution assistance. In this system, mobile LiDAR and imagery scanning are used to collect transportation asset data. AI algorithms are then developed to process the collected data and automatically extract transportation assets (e.g., traffic signs, guardrails, and striping). With imagery and point cloud analysis, an asset inventory is created, including evaluated conditions. Figure 2.7 shows an example of the scanning and automatic extraction of steel guardrails. By employing these advanced techniques, Pillar enables comprehensive and efficient management of transportation infrastructure, ensuring timely maintenance and accurate condition assessments.

² <u>https://www.pillaroma.com/artificial-intelligence-ai-in-transportation-asset-management/</u>



Figure 2.7 An Example of Guardrail Scan And Automatic Extraction by Pillar

2.3.2 Esri

Esri³ has developed a deep learning model to evaluate indicators of road conditions, such as road roughness and the level of crack damage, by leveraging road traffic density and road condition data. Esri's platform allows users to organize road assets comprehensively, understand their location and condition, and integrate with leading asset management solutions for road maintenance. Additionally, Esri provides mobile solutions to assist with data collection and asset inspection on highways.

The Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) has adopted this system, known as FDOT's publicfacing eMaintenance Web App (see Figure 2.8). This application is open to the public and provides inspection results for crash cushions and guardrails across Florida. By utilizing Esri's system, FDOT enhances its ability to monitor and maintain transportation infrastructure effectively.



Figure 2.8 Interface of FDOT eMaintenance Web App

³ <u>https://www.esri.com/en-us/industries/roads-highways/business-areas/maintenance</u>

2.3.3 Deep Systems (Russia)

Deep Systems⁴ is an automatic road defect detection software developed by one of the leading Russian research groups, utilizing computer vision and deep learning. The algorithm operates in real-time to quickly detect defects such as cracks, holes, and patches from recorded video. This system also offers a web dashboard for monitoring and controlling GPU clusters, including training models, running defect detection, and viewing results. The dashboard interface is shown in Figure 2.9. Additionally, Deep Systems provides robust interoperability, allowing operators to create, modify, and populate training samples according to their specific requirements. By leveraging this advanced technology, Deep Systems enhances the efficiency and accuracy of road defect detection, providing a comprehensive tool for infrastructure maintenance and monitoring.



Figure 2.9 Web Dashboard Page of Deep Systems

2.3.4 TRIK

TRIK⁵ is an innovative enterprise software solution designed to optimize the use of drone photography for structural inspections. It seamlessly transforms photos taken by drones into interactive 3D models, which can be easily measured and annotated. These 3D models not only facilitate detailed structural analysis but also serve as comprehensive databases, supporting photo searches, detecting structural changes, and maintaining project records. Additionally, TRIK's capabilities extend to identifying pavement issues, making it a versatile tool for a wide range of inspection and maintenance needs.

2.3.5 Pavemetrics

Pavemetrics⁶ has developed the Laser Crack Measurement System (LCMS-2), a cutting-edge single-pass 3D sensor for pavement inspection. The LCMS-2 can automatically geotag, measure, detect, and quantify critical functional parameters of pavement in a single pass. These parameters include cracking, rutting, texture, potholes, bleeding, shoving, raveling, and roughness, among others.

⁴ <u>https://deepsystems.ai/solutions/road-defects-detection</u>

⁵ <u>https://gettrik.com/</u>

⁶ <u>https://www.pavemetrics.com/applications/road-inspection/lcms2-en/</u>

2.3.6 Brief Summary

TRIK and 2.3.5 Pavemetrics are commercially available platforms to collect and manage data, which can be further processed for pavement condition assessment. Pillar, Esri, and Deep Systems are AI-based platforms to help operators identify transportation assets and assess their condition based on deep learning technologies. Increasing combinations of computer vision and deep learning technologies have been applied in transportation asset management.

3. METHODOLOGY

The comprehensive workflow of AI model development is depicted in Figure 3.1. In general, AI algorithm development follows an iterative process in this project. Initially, a mobile phone was mounted on vehicle's windshield to capture video data. These videos were then converted into images and annotated for AI model training and testing. The labeled images were input into the YOLO framework for model training. Subsequent model tests used separate video samples to identify any remaining object detection issues through manual verification. Based on these findings, new images related to detection errors were added to the training dataset to initiate a new round of iterative training. This cycle was repeated to drive iterative model improvement.



Figure 3.1 Flowchart of Model Development and Improvement

3.1 Data Collection and Processing

To collect transportation asset data for training AI models, a mobile phone (iPhone 12 Pro with a 12megapixel triple-lens camera at the back) was mounted on the passenger side of a vehicle's front windshield. This placement allows the phone to capture transportation assets from a front-facing perspective. The setup of the video collection on the vehicle is depicted in Figure 3.2.

The collected videos were recorded at 30 frames per second (fps). Approximately 31 hours of videos (estimated to contain around 3.3 million images) have been collected on highways and local streets in Utah. These videos encompass all types of transportation assets targeted in the project: pavement markings, traffic signs, steel guardrails, concrete barriers, and litter and trash. Certain special scenarios, such as strong-glare and low-illumination days, are also included in the data collection.

In data processing, each image frame in the recorded videos was extracted sequentially. Only images clearly capturing targeted objects were extracted and incorporated into our training and test dataset. Moreover, to streamline the dataset and mitigate redundancy, a maximum of three images per object were chosen for training purposes, thereby optimizing the efficiency of the dataset while maintaining the requisite diversity needed for robust model training.



Figure 3.2 Setup of Video Collection

Besides using self-collected images, this project has explored other open-source datasets, e.g., UDOT Roadview Explorer dataset and Google Street View, to train AI models. Through rigorous analysis, it was discerned that the self-collected data yielded the most optimal performance due to the direct and unobstructed views of transportation assets captured from the front windshield. Therefore, in this project, only images processed from self-collected videos were used to develop AI models.

3.2 Data Annotations

We used LabelImg to label objects with bounding boxes for the development of our training and test datasets. LabelImg⁷, a free and open-source graphical annotation tool, allows us to label images accurately. We labeled our dataset separately for different tasks, corresponding to different targeted transportation assets, to identify or assess their conditions.

3.2.1 Pavement Marking Annotations

In this project, we differentiated pavement markings into white and yellow classes and assessed their conditions accordingly. Following ASTM (2020) and Kuang et al. (2022), markings with over 50% of their areas faded or missing were labeled as faded (excluding fully faded). Consequently, faded markings were differentiated into two categories: "y_faded" (yellow faded markings) and "w_faded" (white faded markings). The "y_faded" includes faded double and single curb or lane markings in yellow, while "w_faded" includes faded longitudinal lane markings, horizontal markings (e.g., crosswalks, stop lines), arrow markings, and delineators in white.

3.2.2 Litter & Trash Annotations

This project classified trash and litter on the pavement into four types: "leaves" (vegetation and leaves on the roadside), "dirt" (dirt on the roadside), "w_litter" (litter in white or light colors, such as plastic and foam), and "b_litter" (litter in black or dark colors, such as used tires, rubber, and branches).

⁷ <u>https://github.com/heartexlabs/labelImg</u>

3.2.3 Traffic Sign Annotations

According to the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (FHWA, 2009), traffic signs are classified into four types: (1) "regulatory," which includes stop signs, yield signs, and "Do not enter" signs (mostly in red or white); (2) "speed," encompassing speed limit and school zone signs (mostly in white); (3) "warning," covering warning signs and object markers (mostly in yellow); and (4) "guide," consisting of destination guide signs and traffic movement signs (mostly in green).

3.2.4 Guardrail and Barrier Annotations

This project also considers guardrails and barriers. There are two classes presented: "concrete," which includes cast-in-place concrete barriers and New Jersey shape barriers, and "steel beam," encompassing w-beams with steel blocks and w-beam guardrails.

3.3 You Only Look Once (YOLO)

YOLO is a pre-trained object detection model based on the COCO dataset. It simultaneously proposes regions of interest and makes detections, making it faster than most state-of-the-art algorithms (Redmon et al., 2016). YOLO predicts the bounding boxes of target objects and the probabilities of their associated classes in a single scan of images. Only predictions with more than the threshold of confidence (30% in this study) are considered effective and are labeled with bounding boxes. Additionally, YOLO can crop the labeled objects for further processing after detection.

In this project, we utilize YOLOv5 as the base AI framework to develop AI models for each research task. The architecture of YOLOv5, illustrated in Figure 3.3 (S. Xu et al., 2021), consists of three main parts: the backbone, neck, and output.

- **Backbone:** The backbone network employs a cross-stage partial (CSP) network and spatial pyramid pooling (SPP) to extract feature maps from the input image at different scales through multiple convolution and pooling layers (Li et al., 2022). This method enhances both inference speed and accuracy by efficiently processing and consolidating features at various resolutions.
- Neck: The neck network uses a path aggregation network (PANet) to ensure that useful information at each feature level propagates directly to subsequent subnetworks. PANet improves the propagation of low-level features through an enhanced bottom-up path and uses adaptive feature pooling to maximize the utilization of accurate location signals in lower layers (S. Xu et al., 2021). This results in better feature fusion and helps the model maintain high performance, even with complex input data.
- **Head:** The head is the output of YOLO, generating three different sizes of feature maps (18 x 18, 36 x 36, and 72 x 72) to detect objects at multiple scales (Redmon et al., 2016; S. Xu et al., 2021). This multi-scale detection capability allows YOLOv5 to accurately identify objects of varying sizes within the same image, enhancing its versatility and robustness.

With this developed framework, YOLOv5 achieves high detection speed and accuracy. Its efficient architecture and advanced feature extraction techniques make it well-suited for real-time object detection tasks, ensuring reliable performance in a wide range of applications. By building on YOLOv5, our project benefits from these advancements, enabling precise and rapid detection of target objects, e.g., traffic signs, litter, and pavement marking issues.



(R. Xu et al., 2021)

3.4 Accuracy Metrics

This project applies YOLO to train AI models for transportation asset detection. The metrics used to evaluate performance are defined as follows:

$$precision = \frac{TP}{TP + FP}$$

$$recall = \frac{TP}{TP + FN}$$

$$F1 = \frac{2 * precision * recall}{precision + recall}$$

Here, TP (true positive) describes a scenario where a prediction box correctly captures a positive object. A FP (false positive) occurs when a prediction box captures an incorrect object, while a FN (false negative) means that a positive object is not detected by any prediction box. Therefore, precision and recall evaluate the performance of the model from different perspectives:

- Precision reflects the reliability of the model in classifying objects as positive.
- Recall measures the model's ability to detect positive objects (i.e., true positives).

To ensure a balance between precision and recall, the F1-score is introduced, which weights them equally to avoid outperforming in one metric while underperforming in the other (Arya et al., 2020). In the reported metrics, our objective is to identify objects of interest accurately. These objects are considered as true positives as long as the developed AI algorithms detect them during the video detection process once. This approach ensures that our model reliably captures and identifies the relevant transportation assets, thereby optimizing the detection performance across various metrics.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Model Training Environment and Parameter Setting

The training and testing in AI model development were performed using a Windows 10 desktop. The hardware information, configurations of the AI development environment, and training parameters are detailed in Table 4.1 and Table 4.2.

Environment	Configuration
CPU	8-Core
GPU	NVIDIA GeForce RTX 3070
Memory	64GB
Operating System	Windows 10
Language	Python 3.10.4
Deep Learning Framework	PyTorch 1.10.2
CUDA	Version 11.3

 Table 4.1 Training Environment Configuration

Table 4.2 Training Parameter Settings

Parameter	Setting	Parameter	Setting	
Size of Input Images	640 x 640	Learning Rate	0.01	
Initial weight	Yolov5s	Epochs	1000	
Optimizer	Adam	Batch size	16	

4.2 AI Model Development to Identify Pavement Marking Issues

A total of 1,479 images were incorporated into our training dataset for pavement marking model development. Out of these, 1,088 images were used for training, while 391 images were used for validation.

4.2.1 Model Training and Test Performance

The training process stopped at 315 epochs as no further improvement was observed in the last 100 epochs. The best model training result was achieved at epoch 215. Figure 4.1 illustrates the reported accuracy metrics during the algorithm training process, showing that the AI model finally reached convergence. The model achieved a precision of approximately 87%, a recall rate of 90%, and an F1 score of 89% (Table 4.3).



Figure 4.1 Accuracy Metrics of Pavement Marking Issues During Training

Class	Precision	Recall	F1 score			
all	0.87	0.9	0.89			
w faded	0.88	0.91	0.89			
y_faded	0.86	0.89	0.87			

Table 4.3 Training Results of Pavement Marking Issues

4.2.2 Examples of Pavement Marking Issues Detection

In the iterative improvement process, we performed visual inspections on approximately seven hours of videos to validate the model's performance. To correct wrong identifications, we incorporated more training images. The addressed detection issues included false detection of normal markings as faded markings, incorrect classification of pavement issues as faded markings, and misidentification of special markings as faded markings. Examples of pavement marking detection by the developed AI model are shown in Figure 4.2.



faded 0.73

(b) Faded white lane marking

(a) Faded white lane and arrow markings



(e) Faded white stop lane markings

Y

(f) Faded white delineator markings



4.3 AI Model Development to Identify Litter & Trash

A total of 1,916 images were used to develop the AI model for trash and litter detection. Of these, 1,371 images were used for training, and 545 images were used for validation.

4.3.1 Model Training and Performance

The AI model for litter and trash identification converged after 457 epochs as no significant improvement was observed in the last 100 epochs. The optimal training model was achieved at epoch 357. The training process and accuracy metrics are shown in Figure 4.3 and Table 4.4. The developed AI model achieved a precision of 86%, a recall rate of 92%, and an F1 score of 89%.



Figure 4.3 Accuracy Metrics of Litter & Trash Identification During Training

Class	Precision	Recall	F1 score
all	0.86	0.92	0.89
leaves	0.88	0.93	0.90
dirt	0.91	0.91	0.91
w litter	0.79	0.93	0.85
b_litter	0.88	0.92	0.90

Table 4.4 Training Results of Trash & Litter

4.3.2 Examples of Litter & Trash Identification

During the iterative AI model development process, around four hours of videos were tested. The addressed litter and trash detection issues included the misclassification of outfall points on highways as "b_litter" and the incorrect detection of white markings or pavement as "w_litter" or "b_litter." Examples of trash and litter identification by the developed AI algorithm are demonstrated in Figure 4.4.



(g) Black and white litter on the street road (h) Dirt on the street road Figure 4.4 Examples of Detection Results of Trash & Litter

4.4 AI Model Development to Identify Traffic Signs

A total of 1,456 images were used to train the AI model for traffic sign detection. Of these, 1,026 images were used for training, and 430 images were used for validation.

4.4.1 Model Training and Performance

The training process for the AI model for traffic sign detection stopped at 315 epochs as no improvement was observed in the last 100 epochs. The best results were observed at epoch 215. Training results are shown in Table 4.5 and Figure 4.5. The AI model reached convergence within the training process, achieving an overall precision of 88%, a recall rate of 90%, and an F1 score of 89%.

Class	Precision	Recall	F1 score		
all	0.88	0.90	0.89		
regulatory	0.94	0.81	0.87		
speed	0.84	0.93	0.88		
warning	0.83	0.93	0.88		
guide	0.89	0.94	0.91		

 Table 4.5 Training Results of Traffic Signs



Figure 4.5 Accuracy Metrics of Traffic Signs During Training

4.4.2 Examples of Traffic Signs Detection

The model developed for traffic sign detection was tested on two-hour videos during the improvement process. The addressed detection issues in the iterative improvement process included the misclassification of advertisement boards on highways as traffic signs and the failure to detect signs obscured by trees. Examples of using AI to identify traffic signs are shown in Figure 4.6.



(a) Traffic movement guide and speed warning

(b) Traffic movement guide



(c) Exit guide and warning maker





(e) Speed limit

(f) Street guide



(g) Stop sign and street guide (h) Do not enter and street guide **Figure 4.6** Examples of Detection Results of Traffic Signs

4.5 AI Prototype Development to Identify Guardrails and Barrier

A prototype AI algorithm for steel guardrail and concrete barrier identification was developed using 241 images, with 153 images used for training and 56 images for validation. The training process for this prototype AI algorithm stopped at 265 epochs as no further improvement was observed. The best results were achieved at epoch 165.

The training process is illustrated in Figure 4.7. The AI model converged during the training process, achieving approximately 80% accuracy in detecting concrete barriers and steel guardrails. The training results indicate significant potential to develop a high-performance model for identifying steel guardrails and concrete barriers.





Detection examples for these two classes are shown in Figure 4.8. The developed AI prototype demonstrates its ability to identify both steel beam guardrails and concrete barriers. However, additional image data are required to enhance this prototype further.



(c) Concrete barrier (d) Concrete barrier and steel guardrail Figure 4.8 Examples of Detection Results of Guardrails

5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Summary

Close-range photogrammetry, including data collection via mobile phones, offers a lightweight and costeffective solution for timely transportation asset information collection. Concurrently, AI models such as computer vision and deep learning excel in automatic object detection and image classification, demonstrating significant potential in transportation asset monitoring and maintenance.

This project, therefore, focuses on developing reliable and affordable AI algorithms capable of analyzing videos collected by mobile phones to facilitate automatic information collection and inspection of transportation assets, including pavement markings, traffic signs, trash and litter, steel guardrails, and concrete barriers.

We collected approximately 31 hours of videos, covering highways and local roads in Utah using a smartphone mounted on a vehicle's windshield. These videos were processed into labeled images for training and validation. The developed AI package is designed for automatic information collection of all the targeted types of transportation assets mentioned above. The results indicate that the AI models are capable of automatically detecting relevant transportation assets with high accuracy (over 85%).

5.2 Findings

In this study, three AI models were developed for the automatic detection of pavement marking issues, traffic signs, and litter and trash, along with a prototype model for identifying steel guardrails and concrete barriers. These models were trained and tested using images extracted from videos recorded on a mobile phone mounted on a vehicle's windshield. Specifically:

(1) For pavement marking issue detection, 1,496 images were used to train the AI model. The pavement marking issues were classified into two categories based on color: faded yellow markings ("y_faded") and faded white markings ("w_faded"). The performance metrics for this model are a precision of 87%, a recall of 90%, and an F1 score of 89%.

(2) To develop the AI model for trash and litter identification, 1,916 images were utilized. This model included four major classes: leaves, dirt, white litter ("w_litter"), and black litter ("b_litter"). The model achieved a precision of 86%, a recall of 92%, and an F1 score of 89%.

(3) The AI model for traffic sign identification was trained with 1,456 images. The traffic signs were classified into four categories: regulatory, speed, warning, and guide signs. The performance metrics for this model are 88% precision, 90% recall, and an F1 score of 89%.

(4) A prototype AI algorithm for steel guardrail and concrete barrier identification was developed using 241 images. This prototype performed well in identifying both steel guardrails and concrete barriers in tested videos and shows great potential for achieving high-accuracy detection with further development.

These AI models were developed to facilitate the automatic information collection and assessment of transportation assets, leveraging videos processed into labeled images for training and validation. The results show that the developed AI models are capable of accurately and efficiently collecting relevant transportation asset information.

5.3 Limitations and Future Work

Despite the decent performance of the current AI models, limitations still exist. First, the training dataset is limited, leading to false detections in certain scenarios. Second, the performance of the developed AI models has not been tested in special scenarios, such as rainy days or daytime, with strong or low illuminance. These conditions present more challenging situations for accurate transportation asset inspection. Therefore, the performance of the developed algorithms needs further evaluation under these scenarios.

Considering these limitations, further improving the detection accuracy and robustness through largescale AI algorithm validation is a promising direction. Incorporating more training and test images under special circumstances is essential for evaluating algorithm performance across all types of transportation assets.

REFERENCES

- Abdellatif, M., Peel, H., Cohn, A.G., Fuentes, R., 2020. "Pavement Crack Detection from Hyperspectral Images Using a Novel Asphalt Crack Index." *Remote Sensing* 12, 3084. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12183084
- Ahmed, M., Hass, C.T., Hass, R., 2011. "Toward low-cost 3D automatic pavement distress surveying: the close range photogrammetry approach." 38, 13.
- Akofio-Sowah, M.-A., Boadi, R., Amekudzi, A., Meyer, M., 2014. "Managing Ancillary Transportation Assets: The State of the Practice." *Journal of Infrastructure Systems* 20, 04013010. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)IS.1943-555X.0000162
- Alzraiee, H., Leal Ruiz, A., Sprotte, R., 2021. "Detecting of Pavement Marking Defects Using Faster R-CNN." Journal of Performance of Constructed Facilities, 35, 04021035. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CF.1943-5509.0001606
- Arya, D., Maeda, H., Kumar Ghosh, S., Toshniwal, D., Omata, H., Kashiyama, T., Sekimoto, Y., 2020.
 "Global Road Damage Detection: State-of-the-art Solutions," in: 2020 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data). Presented at the 2020 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pp. 5533–5539. https://doi.org/10.1109/BigData50022.2020.9377790
- ASTM, 2020. Standard Practice for Evaluating Degree of Pavement Marking Line Wear (No. D913-20).
- Campbell, A., Both, A., Sun, Q. (Chayn), 2019. "Detecting and mapping traffic signs from Google Street View images using deep learning and GIS." *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems* 77, 101350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2019.101350
- Chamberlin, R., Lincoln, T., Stein, S., Chamberlin Analytics, ER Planning, 2021. "Sources of Highway Litter in Utah" (No. UT-21.01).
- Chehri, H., Chehri, A., Saadane, R., 2021. "Traffic Signs Detection and Recognition System in Snowy Environment Using Deep Learning," in: Ben Ahmed, M., Rakıp Karaş, İ., Santos, D., Sergeyeva, O., Boudhir, A.A. (Eds.), Innovations in Smart Cities Applications Volume 4, Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 503–513. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-66840-2_38
- Dai, S., Yan, Q., 2014. "Pavement Evaluation Using Ground Penetrating Radar, in: Pavement Materials, Structures, and Performance GSP." Presented at the Geo-Shanghai 2014, American Society of Civil Engineers, pp. 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784413418.023
- De Blasiis, M.R., Di Benedetto, A., Fiani, M., Garozzo, M., 2021. "Assessing of the Road Pavement Roughness by Means of LiDAR Technology." *Coatings* 11, 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/coatings11010017

- Du, Y., Pan, N., Xu, Z., Deng, F., Shen, Y., Kang, H., 2020. "Pavement distress detection and classification based on YOLO network." *International Journal of Pavement Engineering* 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/10298436.2020.1714047
- Farhadmanesh, M., Cross, C., Mashhadi, A.H., Rashidi, A., Wempen, J., 2021. "Highway Asset and Pavement Condition Management using Mobile Photogrammetry." *Transportation Research Record* 036119812110018. https://doi.org/10.1177/03611981211001855
- FHWA, 2009. Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) 2009 Edition.
- Gao, L., Yu, Y., Hao Ren, Y., Lu, P., 2021. "Detection of Pavement Maintenance Treatments using Deep-Learning Network." *Transportation Research Record* 2675, 1434–1443. https://doi.org/10.1177/03611981211007846
- Gargoum, S., El-Basyouny, K., Sabbagh, J., Froese, K., 2017. "Automated Highway Sign Extraction Using Lidar Data." *Transportation Research Record* 2643, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3141/2643-01
- Garrido, I., Lagüela, S., Arias, P., 2018. "Infrared Thermography's Application to Infrastructure Inspections." *Infrastructures* 3, 35. https://doi.org/10.3390/infrastructures3030035
- Ghosh, R., Smadi, O., 2021. "Automated Detection and Classification of Pavement Distresses using 3D Pavement Surface Images and Deep Learning." *Transportation Research Record* 03611981211007481. https://doi.org/10.1177/03611981211007481
- Gómez, B.F., Yi, L., Ramalingam, B., Rayguru, M.M., Hayat, A.A., Thejus, P., Leong, K., Elara, M.R., 2022. "Deep Learning based Litter Identification and Adaptive Cleaning using Self-reconfigurable Pavement Sweeping Robot," in: 2022 IEEE 18th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE). Presented at the 2022 IEEE 18th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE), pp. 2301–2306. https://doi.org/10.1109/CASE49997.2022.9926489
- Gopalakrishnan, K., Khaitan, S.K., Choudhary, A., Agrawal, A., 2017. "Deep Convolutional Neural Networks with transfer learning for computer vision-based data-driven pavement distress detection." *Construction and Building Materials* 157, 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.09.110
- Gudigar, A., Chokkadi, S., U, R., 2016. "A review on automatic detection and recognition of traffic sign." *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 75, 333–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-014-2293-7
- Hanson, T., Cameron, C., Hildebrand, E., 2014. "Evaluation of low-cost consumer-level mobile phone technology for measuring international roughness index (IRI) values." *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering* 41, 819–827. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjce-2014-0183
- Hoang, V.-D., Le, M.-H., Tran, T.T., Pham, V.-H., 2018. "Improving Traffic Signs Recognition Based Region Proposal and Deep Neural Networks," in: Nguyen, N.T., Hoang, D.H., Hong, T.-P., Pham, H., Trawiński, B. (Eds.), *Intelligent Information and Database Systems*, Lecture Notes in

Computer Science. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 604–613. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-75420-8 57

- Hou, Q., Ai, C., Boudreau, N., 2022. "Network-Level Guardrail Extraction Based on 3D Local Features from Mobile LiDAR Sensor." *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering* 36, 04022035. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CP.1943-5487.0001049
- Huang, M.Q., Ninić, J., Zhang, Q.B., 2021. "BIM, machine learning and computer vision techniques in underground construction: Current status and future perspectives." *Tunnelling and Underground Space Technology* 108, 103677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tust.2020.103677
- Iftimie, N., Savin, A., Steigmann, R., Dobrescu, G.S., 2021. "Underground Pipeline Identification into a Non-Destructive Case Study Based on Ground-Penetrating Radar Imaging." *Remote Sensing* 13, 3494. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13173494
- Jiang, R., Jáuregui, D.V., White, K.R., 2008. "Close-range photogrammetry applications in bridge measurement: Literature review." *Measurement* 41, 823–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2007.12.005
- Jin, H., Lan, Z., He, X., 2021. "On Highway Guardrail Detection Algorithm Based on Mask RCNN in Complex Environments," in: 2021 7th International Conference on Systems and Informatics (ICSAI). Presented at the 2021 7th International Conference on Systems and Informatics (ICSAI), pp. 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSAI53574.2021.9664044
- Jin, X., Gao, M., Li, D., Zhao, T., 2024. "Damage detection of road domain waveform guardrail structure based on machine learning multi-module fusion." *PLOS ONE* 19, e0299116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0299116
- Joshaghani, A., Shokrabadi, M., 2022. "Ground penetrating radar (GPR) applications in concrete pavements." *International Journal of Pavement Engineering* 23, 4504–4531. https://doi.org/10.1080/10298436.2021.1954182
- Kaartinen, E., Dunphy, K., Sadhu, A., 2022. "LiDAR-Based Structural Health Monitoring: Applications in Civil Infrastructure Systems." Sensors 22, 4610. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22124610
- Kang, K., Chen, D., Peng, C., Koo, D., Kang, T., Kim, J., 2020. "Development of an Automated Visibility Analysis Framework for Pavement Markings Based on the Deep Learning Approach." *Remote Sensing* 12, 3837. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12223837
- Karballaeezadeh, N., Zaremotekhases, F., Shamshirband, S., Mosavi, A., Nabipour, N., Csiba, P.,
 Várkonyi-Kóczy, A.R., 2020. "Intelligent Road Inspection with Advanced Machine Learning;
 Hybrid Prediction Models for Smart Mobility and Transportation Maintenance Systems."
 Energies 13, 1718. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13071718
- Karimi, K., Faghri, A., 2021. "The Issues of Roadside Litter: A Review Paper." Current Urban Studies 9, 779–803. https://doi.org/10.4236/cus.2021.94046

- Kawano, M., Mikami, K., Yokoyama, S., Yonezawa, T., Nakazawa, J., 2017. "Road marking blur detection with drive recorder," in: 2017 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data). Presented at the 2017 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), IEEE, Boston, MA, pp. 4092–4097. https://doi.org/10.1109/BigData.2017.8258427
- Khamzin, A.K., Varnavina, A.V., Torgashov, E.V., Anderson, N.L., Sneed, L.H., 2017. "Utilization of airlaunched ground penetrating radar (GPR) for pavement condition assessment." *Construction and Building Materials* 141, 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.02.105
- Khan, J.A., Yeo, D., Shin, H., 2018. "New Dark Area Sensitive Tone Mapping for Deep Learning Based Traffic Sign Recognition." *Sensors* 18, 3776. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18113776
- Koch, C., Georgieva, K., Kasireddy, V., Akinci, B., Fieguth, P., 2015. "A review on computer vision based defect detection and condition assessment of concrete and asphalt civil infrastructure." *Advanced Engineering Informatics* 29, 196–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2015.01.008
- Koch, C., Jog, G.M., Brilakis, I., 2013. "Automated Pothole Distress Assessment Using Asphalt Pavement Video Data." *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering* 27, 370–378. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CP.1943-5487.0000232
- Krizhevsky, A., Sutskever, I., Hinton, G.E., 2017. "ImageNet classification with deep convolutional neural networks." *Communications of the ACM*, 60, 84–90. https://doi.org/10.1145/3065386
- Kuang, B., Chen, J., Hu, Y., 2024. "Identification and Geolocation of Pavement Marking Issues Based on Artificial Intelligence and Mobile Phone," in: *Computing in Civil Engineering* 2024.
- Kuang, B., Chen, J., Yang, X.T., 2022. "Mobile Phone-Based Artificial Intelligence Development for Maintenance Asset Management" (No. UT-22.24).
- Li, N., Park, B.B., Lambert, J.H., 2018. "Effect of guardrail on reducing fatal and severe injuries on freeways: Real-world crash data analysis and performance assessment." *Journal of Transportation Safety & Security* 10, 455–470. https://doi.org/10.1080/19439962.2017.1297970
- Li, S., Zhao, X., 2019. "Image-Based Concrete Crack Detection Using Convolutional Neural Network and Exhaustive Search Technique." *Advances in Civil Engineering* 2019, e6520620. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6520620
- Li, Z., Tian, X., Liu, X., Liu, Y., Shi, X., 2022. "A Two-Stage Industrial Defect Detection Framework Based on Improved-YOLOv5 and Optimized-Inception-ResnetV2 Models." *Applied Sciences* 12, 834. https://doi.org/10.3390/app12020834
- Lin, C., Sun, G., Tan, L., Gong, B., Wu, D., 2022. "Mobile LiDAR Deployment Optimization: Towards Application for Pavement Marking Stained and Worn Detection." *IEEE Sensors Journal* 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSEN.2022.3140312
- Liq, P., Tiong, Y., Mustaffar, M., Hainin, M.R., 2012. "Road Surface Assessment of Pothole Severity by Close Range Digital Photogrammetry Method."

- Liu, X., Deng, Z., Lu, H., Cao, L., 2017. "Benchmark for road marking detection: Dataset specification and performance baseline," in: 2017 IEEE 20th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC). Presented at the 2017 IEEE 20th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pp. 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ITSC.2017.8317749
- Liu, Y., Ge, Z., Lv, G., Wang, S., 2018. "Research on Automatic Garbage Detection System Based on Deep Learning and Narrowband Internet of Things." *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*. 1069, 012032. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1069/1/012032
- Liu, Z., Li, Z., Li, L., Yang, H., 2020. "Complex background classification network: A deep learning method for urban images classification." *Computers & Electrical Engineering* 87, 106771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compeleceng.2020.106771
- Lu, Y., 2019. "Artificial intelligence: a survey on evolution, models, applications and future trends." *Journal of Management Analytics* 6, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/23270012.2019.1570365
- Lu, Y., Golrokh, A.J., Islam, M.A., 2017. "Concrete Pavement Service Condition Assessment Using Infrared Thermography." Advances in Materials Science and Engineering 2017, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3829340
- Majidifard, H., Jin, P., Adu-Gyamfi, Y., Buttlar, W.G., 2020. "Pavement Image Datasets: A New Benchmark Dataset to Classify and Densify Pavement Distresses." *Transportation Research Record* 2674, 328–339. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198120907283
- Mandal, V., Mussah, A.R., Adu-Gyamfi, Y., 2020. "Deep Learning Frameworks for Pavement Distress Classification: A Comparative Analysis," in: 2020 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data). Presented at the 2020 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pp. 5577–5583. https://doi.org/10.1109/BigData50022.2020.9378047
- Olsen, M.J., Parrish, C., Che, E., Jung, J., Greenwood, J., Oregon. Dept. of Transportation, 2018. "Lidar for Maintenance of Pavement Reflective Markings and Retroreflective Signs" (No. FHWA-OR-RD-19-01).
- O'Mahony, N., Campbell, S., Carvalho, A., Harapanahalli, S., Hernandez, G.V., Krpalkova, L., Riordan, D., Walsh, J., 2020. "Deep Learning vs. Traditional Computer Vision," in: Arai, K., Kapoor, S. (Eds.), *Advances in Computer Vision, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing*. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 128–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17795-9 10
- Park, B.-K.D., Sayer, J.R., Clover, A.D., Reed, M.P., 2023. "Longitudinal Degradation of Pavement Marking Detectability for Mobile LiDAR Sensing Technology in Real-World Use." Sensors 23, 5815. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23135815
- Pike, A.M., Ballard, L.D., Carlson, P.J., 2011. "Evaluation of Retroreflectivity Measurement Techniques for Profiled and Rumble Stripe Pavement Markings." *Transportation Research Record* 2258, 80– 87. https://doi.org/10.3141/2258-10

- Ragnoli, A., De Blasiis, M., Di Benedetto, A., 2018. "Pavement Distress Detection Methods: A Review." *Infrastructures* 3, 58. https://doi.org/10.3390/infrastructures3040058
- Redmon, J., Divvala, S., Girshick, R., Farhadi, A., 2016. "You Only Look Once: Unified, Real-Time Object Detection," in: 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). Presented at the 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), IEEE, Las Vegas, NV, USA, pp. 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2016.91
- Ruta, A., Li, Y., Liu, X., 2010. "Real-time traffic sign recognition from video by class-specific discriminative features." *Pattern Recognition* 43, 416–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patcog.2009.05.018
- Sassani, A., Smadi, O., Hawkins, N., 2021. "Developing Pavement Marking Management Systems: A Theoretical Model Framework Based on the Experiences of the US Transportation Agencies." *Infrastructures* 6, 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/infrastructures6020018
- Sayyad, S., Parmar, S., Jadhav, M., Khadayate, K., 2020. "Real-Time Garbage, Potholes and Manholes Monitoring System using Deep Learning Techniques," in: 2020 4th International Conference on Trends in Electronics and Informatics (ICOEI) (48184). Presented at the 2020 4th International Conference on Trends in Electronics and Informatics (ICOEI) (48184), pp. 826–831. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICOEI48184.2020.9143030
- Schnebele, E., Tanyu, B.F., Cervone, G., Waters, N., 2015. "Review of remote sensing methodologies for pavement management and assessment." *European Transport Research Review*. 7, 7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12544-015-0156-6
- Sinha, K.C., Labi, S., Agbelie, B.R.D.K., 2017. "Transportation infrastructure asset management in the new millennium: continuing issues, and emerging challenges and opportunities." *Transportmetrica A: Transport Science* 13, 591–606. https://doi.org/10.1080/23249935.2017.1308977
- Solla, M., Lagüela, S., González-Jorge, H., Arias, P., 2014. "Approach to identify cracking in asphalt pavement using GPR and infrared thermographic methods: Preliminary findings." NDT & E International 62, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ndteint.2013.11.006
- Spencer, B.F., Hoskere, V., Narazaki, Y., 2019. "Advances in Computer Vision-Based Civil Infrastructure Inspection and Monitoring." *Engineering* 5, 199–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eng.2018.11.030
- Sun, Y., Tang, H., Zhang, H., 2024. "Automatic Detection of Pavement Marking Defects in Road Inspection Images Using Deep Learning." *Journal of Performance of Constructed Facilities* 38, 04024002. https://doi.org/10.1061/JPCFEV.CFENG-4619
- Tabernik, D., Skočaj, D., 2020. "Deep Learning for Large-Scale Traffic-Sign Detection and Recognition." *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems* 21, 1427–1440. https://doi.org/10.1109/TITS.2019.2913588

- Tepljakov, A., Riid, A., Pihlak, R., Vassiljeva, K., Petlenkov, E., 2019. "Deep Learning for Detection of Pavement Distress using Nonideal Photographic Images," in: 2019 42nd International Conference on Telecommunications and Signal Processing (TSP). Presented at the 2019 42nd International Conference on Telecommunications and Signal Processing (TSP), pp. 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSP.2019.8769086
- Tešić, K., Baričević, A., Serdar, M., 2021. "Non-Destructive Corrosion Inspection of Reinforced Concrete Using Ground-Penetrating Radar: A Review." *Materials* 14, 975. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma14040975
- Tong, Z., Yuan, D., Gao, J., Wei, Y., Dou, H., 2020. "Pavement-distress detection using groundpenetrating radar and network in networks." *Construction and Building Materials* 233, 117352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.117352
- Topo, P., 2020. "Terrestrial Laser Scanning vs Mobile Laser Scanning | TopoDOT." TopoDOT Blog. URL https://blog.topodot.com/differences-between-mobile-laser-scanning-and-terrestrial-laser-scanning/ (accessed 9.13.21).
- Vilbig, R.A., 2013. "Air-coupled and ground-coupled ground penetrating radar techniques." Northeastern University. https://doi.org/10.17760/d20003382
- Vokhidov, H., Hong, H.G., Kang, J.K., Hoang, T.M., Park, K.R., 2016. "Recognition of Damaged Arrow-Road Markings by Visible Light Camera Sensor Based on Convolutional Neural Network." *Sensors* 16, 2160. https://doi.org/10.3390/s16122160
- Voulodimos, A., Doulamis, N., Doulamis, A., Protopapadakis, E., 2018. "Deep Learning for Computer Vision: A Brief Review." *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience* 2018, e7068349. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7068349
- Wang, K.C.P., Zhang, A., Li, J.Q., Fei, Y., Chen, C., Li, B., 2017. "Deep Learning for Asphalt Pavement Cracking Recognition Using Convolutional Neural Network," 166–177. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784480922.015
- Wei, C., Li, S., Wu, K., Zhang, Z., Wang, Y., 2021. "Damage inspection for road markings based on images with hierarchical semantic segmentation strategy and dynamic homography estimation." *Automation in Construction* 131, 103876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2021.103876
- Wen, T., Ding, S., Lang, H., Lu, J.J., Yuan, Y., Peng, Y., Chen, J., Wang, A., 2022. "Automated pavement distress segmentation on asphalt surfaces using a deep learning network." *International Journal* of Pavement Engineering 0, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/10298436.2022.2027414
- Xu, R., Lin, H., Lu, K., Cao, L., Liu, Y., 2021. "A Forest Fire Detection System Based on Ensemble Learning." *Forests* 12, 217. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12020217

- Xu, S., Wang, J., Wu, P., Shou, W., Wang, X., Chen, M., 2021. "Vision-Based Pavement Marking Detection and Condition Assessment—A Case Study." *Applied Sciences* 11, 3152. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11073152
- Zhang, P., Zhao, Q., Gao, J., Li, W., Lu, J., 2019. "Urban Street Cleanliness Assessment Using Mobile Edge Computing and Deep Learning." *IEEE Access* 7, 63550–63563. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2914270
- Zhang, Y., Ge, H., 2012. "Assessment of Presence Conditions of Pavement Markings with Image Processing." *Transportation Research Record* 2272, 94–102. https://doi.org/10.3141/2272-11